RECEIVED

Mar 01 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County

Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND
TREATMENT OF TRACY FABIAN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001302

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In this sexually violent predator case, did the trial judge abuse her discretion by admitting evidence of allegations of sexual misconduct that were denied by Appellant as well as evidence of the related criminal charges which were either dismissed by the prosecutor or the subject of a plea pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), since the evidence was not admissible pursuant to Rule 703, SCRE, and its admission violated Rule 403, SCRE, given that the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice because the evidence was hearsay, unsubstantiated, and wholly unreliable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state filed a petition seeking to involuntarily commit Appellant pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA). The commitment trial commenced on August 29, 2022 before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, and a jury. R. 1. Suzanne Shaw represented the state. R. 1. James Falk represented Appellant. R. 1.

On August 31, 2022, the jury found Appellant was a sexually violent predator under the SVPA. R. 264, ll. 18-24. Judge Goodstein ordered Appellant be committed to the Department of Mental Health for long term control, care, and treatment. R. 300.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant pled guilty in 1994 to first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and kidnapping and was sentenced to thirty years imprisonment. R. 74, ll. 2-13; R. 272; R. 277. Appellant admitted to committing a sexual battery on an eight year old girl in 1993. R. 84, l. 16 – 86, l. 2. He was released from incarceration in 2010. R. 88, ll. 13-16.

In 2014, Appellant was charged with two counts of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. The underlying allegations were that Appellant digitally penetrated a five year old girl and a six year old girl, who were the daughters of his friends, in the backseat of his car while Appellant's then girlfriend was present. R. 89, ll. 10-24; R. 282; R. 287. On another occasion, Appellant allegedly digitally penetrated the six year old girl while the child was lying in bed between Appellant and his then girlfriend. R. 89, ll. 19-24. In relation to these allegations, Appellant pled pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970) to two counts of first degree assault and battery and was sentenced to 551 days' time served. He was released from jail in September 2015. R. 90, ll. 1-13.

Appellant denied committing these alleged offenses. R. 206, ll. 1-7. He explained that he was originally offered a probationary sentence in exchange for pleading guilty but refused the offer and insisted on proceeding to trial. However, two days later, the solicitor offered to allow Appellant to plead in exchange for a time served sentence. Appellant accepted the offer because it allowed him to "go home" that day. He also did not know he was pleading to "sexually related" offenses. R. 207, l. 1 – 208, l. 19. His understanding of an Alford plea was "you're not pleading guilty but you feel like if you go to trial you could be found guilty." R. 208, l. 20 – 209, l. 1.

In 2017, Appellant was charged with first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and third degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 90, l. 25 – 91, l. 4; R. 292; R. 295. The underlying allegations were that Appellant fondled the penis of an eight year old boy and performed oral sex on a five year old boy. The boys were the sons of Appellant’s friend. R. 91, ll. 9-19. Appellant pled pursuant to Alford to third degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and was sentenced to ten years suspended upon the service of seven years’ imprisonment and thirty months’ probation. The first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge was dismissed. R. 91, ll. 16-19; R. 292; R. 295.

Appellant also denied committing these offenses. He explained that he chose to plead again pursuant to Alford because his attorney advised him that the jury would “sympathize with the alleged victim” and “listen to whatever he says.” Consequently, Appellant accepted the favorable plea offer. R. 209, ll. 6-15.

After his release from incarceration in 2021, Appellant was on “intensive probation with a curfew and an ankle monitor.” He had to report to his probation agent every week and attend sex offender counseling. He was also working at a local chicken plant in Sumter. R. 209, l. 25 – 211, l. 22. However, four months after Appellant’s release, the state filed a petition seeking to involuntarily commit him as a sexually violent predator pursuant to the SVPA. R. 164, ll. 16-19. Appellant was taken into custody to await his commitment trial.

Dr. Marie Gehle, a clinical psychologist at the Department of Mental Health, was court ordered to evaluate Appellant. R. 72, ll. 3-5. Dr. Gehle was qualified as an expert in clinical forensic psychology and “sex offender evaluations” without objection. R. 70, ll. 11-17. Based on her evaluation, she opined that Appellant suffered from “pedophilic disorder, sexually attracted to both male and female, nonexclusive type.” She explained that pedophilic disorder is

“a deviant sexual interest in prepubescent children” and nonexclusive type means there is evidence Appellant is also attracted to adults. R. 115, ll. 11-14; R. 116, ll. 17-24. Dr. Gehle also diagnosed Appellant with “narcissistic personality disorder with antisocial traits” and “severe alcohol use disorder in sustained remission in a controlled environment.” R. 116, l. 13 – 117, l. 6. Dr. Gehle opined Appellant’s mental abnormality and personality disorder predispose him to commit acts of sexual violence and that he is likely to reoffend. R. 134, l. 15 – 135, l. 19.

Appellant testified that he received counseling while he was incarcerated which helped him recognize his “cognitive distortions,” such as believing the child he offended in 1993 “was a willing participant.” He knows she was not a willing participant and as an adult, he “should never have let it happen.” R. 198, l. 22 – 199, l. 21. He also learned through counseling about the negative affects his conduct may have had on the child. R. 198, ll. 10-21. Appellant believes his chance of reoffending is zero. He knows himself better than anyone else and does not believe he will ever offend again. R. 212, ll. 3-15.

The jury ultimately found Appellant met the criteria to be committed as a sexually violent predator. R. 264, ll. 18-24.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the circuit court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” In the Matter of Ettel, 377 S.C. 558, 561, 660 S.E.2d 285, 287 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing In the Matter of Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 205, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2003)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” In the Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 162, 851 S.E.2d 442, 444 (Ct. App. 2020) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge abused her discretion by admitting evidence of allegations of sexual misconduct that were denied by Appellant as well as evidence of the related criminal charges which were either dismissed by the prosecutor or the subject of a plea pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), since the evidence was not admissible pursuant to Rule 703, SCRE, and its admission violated Rule 403, SCRE, given that the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice because the evidence was hearsay, unsubstantiated, and wholly unreliable.

Relevant Facts

Appellant moved pretrial to exclude Dr. Marie Gehle, an expert clinical psychologist, from testifying about any and all hearsay statements contained in “police charges, incident reports, witness statements, or victim statements.” R. 4, ll. 4-8. Defense counsel argued such evidence is “beyond the scope of what [Rule] 703 allows an expert witness to testify to.” R. 4, ll. 4-10. Counsel asserted that while such information may be relevant to supporting Dr. Gehle’s diagnosis, “it is highly prejudicial and without any independent confirmation as to the truth of the statements.” In support of his argument, counsel cited our Supreme Court’s recent opinion in *State v. Jenkins*, 436 S.C. 362, 872 S.E.2d 620 (2022), and this Court’s recent unpublished opinion In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of William Ralph Wilson, III, 2022-UP-087 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 2, 2022).

The assistant attorney general argued that pursuant to Rule 703, SCRE, Dr. Gehle “can rely on hearsay evidence . . . that is otherwise inadmissible as long as it . . . comports with her professional standards . . . As long as it is something that is standardly used in the field for such purposes.” R. 6, l. 20 – 7, l. 2. Citing to In the Matter of Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 205, 577 S.E.2d

451, 453 (2003), In the Matter of Ettel, 377 S.C. 558, 561, 660 S.E.2d 285, 287 (Ct. App. 2008), and White v. State, 375 S.C. 1, 649 S.E.2d 172 (2007), the attorney general maintained that “our Supreme Court has said that hearsay that an expert relies upon in the course of her evaluation is admissible regardless of how prejudicial it is.” R. 5, ll. 1-7.

In response, defense counsel argued that this Court emphasized in In the Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 851 S.E.2d 442 (2020), that Rule 703, SCRE, cannot be used “to allow unregulated hearsay testimony [to] come in through the expert.” There must be some form of “independent confirmation” of the underlying allegations, such as an admission by the individual sought to be civilly committed. R. 8, l. 7 – 9, l. 12. Counsel explained that Appellant pled pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970) to the two most recent set of charges and has never admitted to committing any of the alleged underlying conduct. Counsel insisted that it was the trial judge’s “discretionary call of whether or not [the hearsay evidence is] more probative than prejudicial or vice versa” and that this Court’s unpublished opinion in Wilson in which the Court distinguished Ettel, White, and In re Manigo, 389 S.C. 96, 697 S.E.2d 629 (Ct. App. 2010) is “persuasive,” although not “binding precedent.” R. 13, ll. 6-23; R. 8, ll. 7-18.

During later discussions, defense counsel again argued that the underlying allegations of the charges to which Appellant pled pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970) should not be admitted because Dr. Gehle conducted “no independent confirmation” of the truth of the allegations. As discussed above, Appellant was indicted for two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in 2014 and was permitted to plead to two counts of first degree assault and battery pursuant to Alford in exchange for a time served sentence. Counsel contended that perhaps the state agreed to this because “they didn’t think they could make their case because maybe they had a bad case.” Unless the state is able to present evidence corroborating the

allegations, such as testimony from other witnesses, defense counsel argued Dr. Gehle should not be permitted to discuss the charges or the underlying allegations because it would “be highly prejudicial.” He concluded, “[T]here’s no proof . . . that it happened. There’s an allegation that it happened.” R. 24, l. 25 – 25, l. 17.

The trial judge ruled that she would permit Dr. Gehle to discuss the offenses to which Appellant pled pursuant to Alford and the underlying allegations of these offenses. The judge emphasized that before pleading pursuant to Alford, Appellant “had to tell the [plea] judge . . . that he believed based on his view of the evidence and his understanding, he believed that he would be convicted and he wanted to take advantage of the deal, but he did not want to straight up admit it.” The judge also stressed that the plea judge could not accept the plea without finding it was “supported by a factual basis” and the allegations contained in the indictments constituted “the factual basis.” R. 25, l. 18 – 26, l. 16.

Before Dr. Gehle testified before the jury concerning the underlying allegations of the offenses to which Appellant pled pursuant to Alford and the charge that was dismissed, defense counsel renewed his objection. He argued the evidence was hearsay, not relevant, and cited Rule 403, SCRE. R. 88, l. 17 – 89, l. 6; R. 90, l. 25 – 91, l. 8. Counsel also renewed his objection when the state sought to admit Plaintiff’s Exhibit Nos. 3-6, which were the indictments and sentence sheets for the charges in which Appellant pled pursuant to Alford in 2015 and 2019 and the indictment for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor that was dismissed in 2019. R. 74, l. 21 – 80, l. 4.

Discussion

The trial judge abused her discretion by admitting evidence of Appellant’s criminal charges from 2014 and 2017 which were either dismissed by the prosecutor or the subject of a

plea pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970) as well as the underlying allegations supporting these charges, since the evidence was not admissible pursuant to Rule 703, SCRE, and its admission violated Rule 403, SCRE, given that the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice because the evidence was hearsay, unsubstantiated, and wholly unreliable.

“Generally, all relevant evidence is admissible.” In the Matter of Ettel, 377 S.C. 558, 561, 660 S.E.2d 285, 287 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing Rule 402, SCRE); See State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 578, 647 S.E.2d 144, 170 (2007). “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” Id. (citing Rule 401, SCRE). “However, relevant evidence may be excluded if the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs its probative value.” Id. (citing Rule 403, SCRE).

In In the Matter of Ettel, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285 (Ct. App. 2008), which the state relied upon at trial, Ettel argued the trial judge erred by permitting an expert to testify at his commitment trial regarding his prior sexually related offenses that did not result in convictions and to a prior murder conviction asserting the prejudicial nature of this evidence substantially outweighed its probative value. Id. at 559, 660 S.E.2d at 286. Ettel was convicted of first degree criminal sexual conduct and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. Id. After the circuit court found probable cause to believe Ettel was a sexually violent predator, it ordered Ettel undergo a psychiatric evaluation. During his interview with the court appointed forensic psychiatrist, Ettel admitted to three sexual offenses that did not result in any convictions. Id. at 560, 660 S.E.2d at 286-287.

Before trial, the judge denied Ettel’s motion to exclude any testimony regarding these sexual offenses as well as evidence regarding Ettel’s prior murder conviction. Id. at 560, 660

S.E.2d at 287. At trial, the expert psychiatrist discussed the disputed evidence to support her conclusion that Ettel suffered from the mental abnormality of paraphilia, not otherwise specified, and had a history of extreme violence, which made it likely he would engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined for long term control, care, and treatment. Id. at 560-561, 660 S.E.2d at 287.

This Court held the trial judge properly admitted the expert's testimony regarding Ettel's prior sexual offenses not the subject of any convictions as well as his prior murder conviction. The Court concluded the evidence was relevant because the expert relied on the sexual offenses and the murder conviction "in evaluating Ettel's need for and likelihood of success in treatment as well as his ability to control his behavior in the future." Id. at 562, 660 S.E.2d at 288. This Court further held the possibility of unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh the probative value of the testimony. Id. at 563, 660 S.E.2d at 288. In so holding, this Court asserted:

Regarding its probative value, Dr. Crawford [the expert] used the information to develop her "opinion in terms of [Ettel] not being able to control his behavior" and to diagnose Ettel with paraphilia. As for the testimony's possible prejudice, the prior sexual offenses not resulting in convictions as well as the murder conviction were not the only sources of Dr. Crawford's diagnosis. Dr. Crawford testified that even without considering this evidence, her opinion as to whether Ettel had a mental abnormality or personality disorder would not change. Dr. Crawford stated she additionally relied on, among other sources, Ettel's past criminal sexual conduct conviction, Ettel's statements during her extensive clinical forensic interviews with him, interviews with individuals close to Ettel, administrative records, Ettel's prior psychological evaluation, and his record while in a sex offender treatment program.

Id.

This case is easily distinguishable from Ettel. In Ettel, the murder offense was the subject of a conviction and Ettel admitted during his interview with the expert that he committed the three sexual offenses, which ensured the reliability of the evidence challenged at trial and on appeal. In this case, Appellant denied committing the conduct alleged to have occurred in March

2014 and September 2015 that Dr. Gehle was permitted to discuss in detail over Appellant's objection. Additionally, while Appellant pled pursuant to Alford to first degree assault and battery and later to third degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor as part of separate plea deals, Appellant vehemently maintained his innocence while doing so. Appellant explained during his commitment trial that he accepted the favorable plea offer in September 2015 while still maintaining his innocence because it guaranteed he would "go home" that day and the offer in March 2019 based solely on the advice of his then counsel.

Moreover, Dr. Gehle admitted during the trial that she conducted no independent investigation into the truth of the accusations. R. 150, ll. 9-18. She merely learned of the accusations from police reports and statements and assumed they were true. Consequently, there was absolutely no evidence that these allegations were reliable. Dr. Gehle's testimony relaying the contents of the incident reports and statements to the jury in graphic detail had an undue tendency to suggest a verdict on an improper basis, namely assuming the truth of these out of court statements. Because of the obvious lack of reliability of this evidence, it had no probative value and should have been excluded by the trial judge pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.

Additionally, while Rule 703, SCRE, allows some hearsay to be admitted through an expert, it does not suspend all operation of the hearsay rules and the trial judge must evaluate the proposed evidence for reliability.¹ In Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 449, 699 S.E.2d 169, 177 (2010), our Supreme Court exclaimed, "The trial court must examine the substance of the testimony to determine if it is reliable, regardless of whether the expert evidence is scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge." Consequently, all expert testimony *must* pass the

¹ Rule 703 states, "The facts or data in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing. If of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence."

reliability test when the trial court conducts its initial gatekeeping function. Furthermore, in In the Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 166-67, 851 S.E.2d 442, 446 (2020), this Court explained that “due process does not allow an expert to serve as a ‘conduit’ for hearsay without some baseline showing that the hearsay is reliable.” See also State v. Jenkins, 436 S.C. 362, 872 S.E.2d 620 (2022).

During Appellant’s commitment trial, the assistant attorney general relied on the Ettel line of cases to argue that hearsay is *always* admissible if the expert states that she relied on such evidence in reaching her conclusions. See Ettel, 377 S.C. at 562, 660 S.E.2d at 287 (“These offenses can include both convictions and offenses not resulting in convictions as long as they are relevant to the determination of whether a person is a sexually violent predator.”); see also In the Matter of Chandler, 382 S.C. 250, 676 S.E.2d 676 (2009); White v. State, 375 S.C. 1, 649 S.E.2d 172 (Ct. App. 2007). Watson was decided in 2010 and Bilton in 2020, both after the principal cases discussing this type of evidence in the SVP context were decided. Watson emphasizes the trial court’s gatekeeping role and the reliability requirement and Bilton makes clear that there must be a “baseline showing” of reliability before hearsay evidence may be admitted through an expert witness.


Based on these more recent cases it is apparent that Rule 703 is not a limitless exception to the hearsay rule that circumvents the reliability requirement in SVP cases. Dr. Gehle’s complete lack of independent investigation or verification, along with the fact that Appellant denied the allegations, makes the hearsay evidence unreliable and inadmissible. It should have been excluded pursuant to Rule 403.

Respectfully, this Court should reverse Appellant’s commitment and remand for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, this Court should reverse Appellant's commitment as a sexually violent predator and remand for a new trial.