RECEIVED

Mar 21 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County
The Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-001302

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment
of Tracy Fabian,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Judge Goodstein did not abuse her discretion by admitting evidence regarding sex offense charges that were ultimately the subject of a guilty plea to lesser included offenses or dismissed as part of a plea agreement, because the testimony regarding the facts of the offenses was limited and did not include unduly graphic details, and the expert testified the offenses were part of the basis for her ultimate opinions regarding Appellant's diagnosis and risk to reoffend sexually.

Appellant contends Judge Goodstein erred by allowing Dr. Gehle to testify about the factual basis of Appellant's sex offense charges and convictions because he entered Alford pleas, never admitted committing the sex acts, and one of the charges was dismissed by the prosecutor. These contentions are meritless.

Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence". Rule 401, SCRE. Even relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger that it will confuse the issues or mislead the jury. Rule 403, SCRE.

A. Alford Pleas

Appellant's ultimate claim is that his Alford pleas and continuing denial of the alleged conduct underlying his convictions and the dismissed charge (pursuant to his agreement to plea to the other outstanding charge) render the information Dr. Gehle considered unreliable and inadmissible. As he did before Judge Goodstein, Appellant is attempting to collaterally attack his guilty pleas.

"The primary thrust of the Alford decision is that a defendant may voluntarily and knowingly consent to the imposition of a prison sentence even if he is unwilling or unable to admit he participated in the acts constituting the crime." State v. Herndon, 403 S.C. 84, 742

S.E.2d 375, 379 (2013) (*citing* United States v. Morrow, 914 F.2d 608, 611 [4th Cir.1990]). “The Alford plea is, in essence, a guilty plea and carries with it the same penalties and punishments,” and it collaterally estops the defendant from litigating a civil claim based on the same facts as the criminal conviction. *Id.* at 380 (*citing* Zurcher v. Bilton, 379 S.C. 132, 666 S.E.2d 224 [2008]).

In South Carolina, an Alford plea is merely a guilty plea with the gloss of judicial grace allowing defendants to enter a plea in their best interests, and a defendant entering an Alford plea is still treated as guilty for the purposes of punishment, and is not owed anything merely because the State and the court agreed to deviate from the standard guilty plea. *Id.* at 381; *see also* State v. Fraley, 437 S.C. 135, 876 S.E.2d 703, 704-705 (Ct. App. 2022) (Alford plea carries same effect as a regular guilty plea). Judge Goodstein noted that before the court accepted his pleas, Appellant had to admit there was sufficient evidence to convict him of the offenses alleged in the indictments if the case went to trial, even if he did not want to “straight up admit it.” (8/29 TT, p. 103; R., p. 25). Appellant’s continued attempts to collaterally attack his Alford pleas are improper and unavailing, and Judge Goodstein properly ruled Dr Gehle could testify about the underlying facts of the convictions.

B. Admissibility of Evidence

Appellant acknowledges the case law holding that evidence of both convictions and unconvicted offenses is admissible in SVPA cases if they are relevant to the determination of whether the person is a sexually violent predator.⁴ *See* In re Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2003) (past criminal history is directly relevant to SVPA determination and evidence

⁴Appellant’s broad assertion (with no citation to the record) that the State argued hearsay is “always admissible” simply if an expert relied on it in reaching her conclusions takes the State’s argument completely out of context. Rather, the discussion before Judge Goodstein related specifically to experts in sexual predator cases, the State expressly acknowledged that some of the details “have to come out” and the State did not intend to offer those details. (8/29 TT, pp. 83-86; R., pp. 5-8).

regarding details of previous offenses is proper when directly relevant to the ultimate issue of the person's propensity to commit future acts of sexual violence); Manigo, 697 S.E.2d at 633-634 (expert may testify to matters of hearsay for the purpose of showing what information the expert relied on in giving an opinion of value); In re Ettel, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285, 287-288 (Ct. App. 2008) (experts in SVPA cases are given access to all relevant criminal offense records and reports and may testify about those records and reports that are relevant to the expert's opinions) (citing Corley); White v. State, 357 S.C. 1, 649 S.E.2d 172, 176-177 (Ct. App. 2007) (term "offenses" in SVPA includes both convictions and offenses not resulting in convictions). Appellant then argues those cases are distinguishable and limited by subsequent case law, particularly Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010), and In the Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 851 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 2020).⁵ Appellant's argument ignores some very significant aspects of the SVPA case law as well as the more recent cases.

First, Appellant's extensive attempt to "easily" distinguish this case from Ettel overlooks an extremely important fact of the case that undermines his argument. In addition to testifying about the facts of Ettel's sexual conviction and the unreported sex offenses he related to her, the expert testified about verbal information she received from law enforcement officers regarding Ettel's murder conviction in another state that indicated there may have been a sexual component to that offense as well, all of which the expert considered in reaching her ultimate opinions. *Id.* at 563. The court of appeals affirmed the admission of this testimony based on essentially the same analysis Judge Goodstein applied in this case, finding the SVPA gives experts access to all relevant criminal offense records, and the evidence at issue was relevant because the expert relied on it in evaluating Ettel. *Id.* at 562- 563.

⁵The only case Appellant attempts to distinguish from this case is Ettel.

The court further found the possibility of prejudice did not substantially outweigh the evidence's probative value, in part, because it was not the only source of the expert's diagnosis, which included Ettl's past criminal sexual conduct conviction, his statements during the expert's extensive clinical forensic interviews with him, administrative records and Ettl's record while in a sex offender treatment program. *Id.* at 563. Significantly, Dr. Gehle cited the same sources as the basis for her diagnoses in this case.

Appellant's reliance on Watson and Bilton is misplaced.⁶ The issue in both cases was the admission of expert testimony regarding scientific tests. In Watson, the supreme court reversed a products liability jury verdict, holding the circuit court erred in admitting testimony from an expert witness regarding a design flaw in the Ford Explorer, and his theory of how the single vehicle accident at issue could have been prevented. The court found the witness' testimony

⁶Appellant also cites State v. Jenkins, 436 S.C. 362, 872 S.E.2d 620 (2022), as authority for his assertion subsequent case law has changed what expert testimony is admissible in SVPA cases. The testimony at issue in Jenkins, a capital murder case, was a defense expert witness' reference to a statement a co-defendant made to the expert indicating he told the defendant to commit a different murder than the one on trial, which the trial court excluded. After an extensive discussion regarding expert testimony and hearsay, the supreme court acknowledged the excluded statement could have served a dual purpose: the improper purpose of determining whether the co-defendant in fact told the defendant to kill the victim at issue; or the proper purpose of explaining the basis for the expert's opinion the defendant was under the influence of the co-defendant at the time of the murder at issue. Stating the question of whether the trial court erred in excluding the statement was "a close question," the court affirmed the trial court's exclusion of the statement as inadmissible hearsay, finding the record was insufficient to establish an abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 629-632. Initially, Jenkins is a criminal case, and the instant case is civil. See State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 564 S.E.2d 87, 90 (2002) (SVPA creates civil, non-punitive process for civil commitment of persons found to be sexually violent predators) (*citing In re Matthews*, 345 S.C. 638, 550 S.E.2d 311 [2001] [Act does not violate Double Jeopardy clause of federal or state constitutions because it does not constitute punishment]). Further, the purpose of Dr. Gehle's testimony had nothing to do with determining whether Appellant in fact committed the underlying offenses, which was already established as fact by his guilty pleas, but went solely to explain the basis for Dr. Gehle's opinions regarding his mental status and risk to reoffend in the future.

lacked any scientific basis and was not reliable. 699 S.E.2d at 177-179. There is no discussion in Watson regarding hearsay as a basis for excluding the expert's testimony.

As in Watson, the issue in Bilton was the admission of expert testimony regarding a scientific test a third party conducted at the expert's request. The court of appeals reversed the circuit court's admission of the evidence, finding the expert neither administered nor observed the test, and she had not reviewed the raw data from the test but relied on the report from the lab that administered it. The court held that absence a "baseline demonstration" of the test's reliability, a testifying expert cannot be a "conduit of hearsay" for someone else's scientific work. 851 S.E.2d at 445-446.

The testimony at issue here in this case did not involve the reliability of scientific tests performed by Dr. Gehle or anyone else. Thus, neither Watson nor Bilton obviate the prevailing law regarding admissibility of expert testimony about information the expert considered and relied on for purposes of reaching his/her conclusions in a SVPA case.

Appellant also contends the substance of Dr. Gehle's testimony regarding his sexual offenses was inadmissible because she failed to conduct any "independent investigation" and there was "no evidence" the allegations were true. As a threshold matter, Appellant's guilty pleas to the charges were "evidence" that substantiated the allegations.⁷ Further, requiring an expert to re-victimize the person's victims by conducting an "independent" investigation of each offense in order to reach any conclusions regarding the person's mental status and risk to re-offend sexually is completely contrary to the SVPA's stated intent to protect the public from future victimization by sexual predators.

⁷Of interest, Appellant entered an Alford Plea on the 1993 offenses, which he now claims rendered all the evidence regarding his offenses inadmissible as unsubstantiated allegations. The reality is that Appellant has never accepted responsibility for the offenses he committed against minor children, which makes him more likely to commit similar offenses in the future.

Finally, Appellant's contention that Dr. Gehle testified in graphic detail about Appellant's sex offenses is simply inaccurate. Her testimony regarding each offense was limited, and significantly, it was based not only on the official records, but on statements Appellant made to Dr. Gehle about the offenses. (8/30 TT, pp. 47-66; R., pp. 74-93).⁸ Appellant testified about the offenses, admitted committing the 1993 offenses, but denied committing all the other offenses. The jury was free to accept his version if it determined he was credible. See Upson v. State, Op. No. 2018-001674, 2024 WL 358032, at *5 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed January 31, 2024) (credibility of witnesses is a question for the jury, and the jury decides the weight to be afforded the testimony) (*citing* Melton v. Williams, 281 S.C. 182, 314 S.E.2d 612, 614-15 (Ct. App. 1984)).

Judge Goodstein properly exercised her discretion by considering both the probative value and the prejudicial effect of Dr. Gehle's testimony regarding the basis of Appellant's sex offenses, found the probative value was high and the prejudice to Appellant did not substantially outweigh the probative value. Her ruling is supported by the record and applicable case law, and should be affirmed.

⁸Most of the cited testimony was identifying the official court documents from Appellant's sex offense convictions, and public information regarding a charge that was dismissed as part of his 2019 plea agreement. Those documents were entered into evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibits 1-6. (R. pp 272-299).